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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

\The Athenaeum (Das Deutsche Haus), is a U-shaped bulldlng/lylng at the
southeast corner of the intersection of Michigan and New Jersey streets,
“'With ‘the ‘base ‘of the U at the north.‘ A short east wing, lying on a north-
south axis, exposes the inner, or east, side of the longer west wing,with
its enclosed winter garden and glassed-in second-story loggias, and con-
nects it to the outdoor or summer beer garden, lying outside the inner
wall of that wing, and beyond the extension of the short east wing. &\

The overall dimensions are 190' x 180'. The facade or north elevation,
shows both of the two architectural building phases of the structure: (1)
the older or German Romanesque (1893-189L), gable-roofed section, now
the east-reaching wing of théaain, hipped-roof section of the structure
(1897-1898), representing the Renaissance phase of its architecture. ¥

The German Romanesque portion of the structure has two different towers ,
and an elaborate gable end rises above the roof line in two places. The
Renaissance portion has an elaborate facade rising into a baroque pedi-
ment above the cornice. The building is two stories high with an attic
and a full basement. The foundations of the building are rockfaced stone,
laid up on an ashlar coursing with a beveled limestone cap defining the
first floor on the north facade and the west elevation. Stone foundations
carry around a tower on the northeast corner of the old huilding.““However,
the stone work steps down at the tower and the beveled cap is terminated.
Other exterior foundation walls of stone are terminated at the finish grade
line.

. The face of the; great west, or Renaissance wing is. filled with, arched and
stained-glass windows, bulls-eye windows, straight transomed windows, and
has one elaborate, bulls-eye pedimented stained glass window marked by a
stone balcony. The main entrance to the structure is in the narrower end
of the west wing, on the north facade, whére, combined with the face of
the older or German Romanesque east wing, there are presented thirteen
irregular bays which provide a full view of both the major building phases
of this structure. On the back of the west wing, at its inner, eastern,

‘or courtyard face, are even more multiple bays, represented by the glass
walls of the double loggia at the second floor and balcony level of the
auditorium, and the later glass enclosed arcaded arches of the first
floor at ground level.

dark red brick in common bond. A stone belt course 4
line. The walls of the Renaissance portion have altg
bands of stone with red brick in common bond flank:iu
jecting cornice defines the second floor. The remafind
of red brick in common bond. Similar masonry const
west and south elevations.
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From the outdoor. beer garden or summer garden as it was originally called,
is to be seen the easki_oz.inner wall of the southeast &t of the west wing.
Here the first story has 6 square brick piers which define five open bays

on the east and one bay on the north. This once open loggia, extending not
quite the length of the wing, was later enclosed with wooden frames and
fixed glazed panels of several sizes set within its original series of flat
wooden arches. Above each column is a ribboned wreath carved in wood,

with a shield on the wreath over the corner column. The second floor is
defined by a wooden entablature. Square wooden columns with a carved geo-
metric design on wooden bases define the bay system at the second floor,
corresponding to the bay system below. Each bay is divided into four units,
and each unit has a wooden, double hung window defined at its base by turned
balusters and a continuous sill. The window jambs are defined by turned
wooden colonnettes on high brackets which align with the balusters under the
windows. A wooden entablature defines an apparent "third story" at the
level of the interior balcony of the concert hall, ballroom, or auditorium.
Here the treatments are similar, except that the sSquare wooden columns have
a different applied design. They do have bases, but they have pseudo-Ionic
caps instead of the stylized Doric caps of the second story. Instead of
colonnettes to define the window jambs, plain rectangular wooden mullions
are used. The balustrade system below the windows is similar to the one at
the second floor demarcation, however the sills are not cominuous, as in

the second floor demarcation, but are Set back of the face of the mullions
and columns. A continuous horizontal member defines the heads of the windows|,
and bears on the Tonic caps. Above this member is a series of punched open-
ings, glazed, in wooden frames. Tt is not only an excellent solution to a
problem of obtaining light and air in an interior enclosed space, but it
beautifully provides a basement beer garden, or winter garden, to balance
the summer beer garden out of doors. It is one of the most interesting
manifestations of late 19th century wooden construction in Indianapolis.

The west wing of the U-shaped structure has a hipped roof with the ridge
running north to south. The short east wing is gabled. The roof joining
the two wings is gabled at the west and hipped at the east. The ridge is
parallel to the north elevation or facade, 'and . has two projecting gables.
The roof of the west wing and that of the older portion of the east extension
of the north facade are punctuated with several small hooded copper-domed
dormers with dwarf spires and diamond paned windows in the central portion,
and smaller "eyebrow" louvres nearrer the ridgeline. A small bank of half-
windows or skylights appear on each side near the south end of the roof,
and copper covered cupolas with drawf spires occur at each end. Chimneys
of red brick are barely visible. Some have been shatened from their original
outline. Th tone brick towers are at the northeast corner of the building,
circular. 'ﬁ‘fbrma capped with a conical roof of slate. A second brick
tower, Qctago -?\xm, appears on the north elevation, and is capped with
a stllted pblﬁ@ﬁﬁﬂi31d¢d roof with an agre(or gently curving mansard) silhouefte--a

doublevﬁlti?ed.50&52&1§ﬁ‘a small spire.
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The main doorway in the Renaissance portion of the north facade is a semi-
circular stone arch. The faces of the alternating stone voussoirs are pro-
Jected. Stone bases with banded stone engaged columns with Doric caps flank
the arched opening. The column treatment is reminiscent of the De L'Orme
French order. TFour wooden doors with glazed panels and a rectangular glazed
transom are set in the opening. Thus there is a lunette of masonry above
the transom. The doors are defined as pairs by a high wooden pedestal and

a small wooden turned column with an Ionic cap on the centerline of the open-
ing. A second doorway on the east extension or 1894 portion of the north
facade is defined by a semi-circular limestone arch set on brick piers
behind a one-story projecting porch over an entrance stairs of eight risers.
Two free-standing Roman Doric columns on high bases and spanned by a stone
lintel and flat deck define the stairway. Stone balusters and stone rail-
ings link the column bases with the north wall. The pair of wooden doors
each with a glazed light over 4 wooden panels and a rectangular glazed tran-
som is set about 3' back of the arch opening.

Most of the major windows are original double hung wooden units, and are in
a variety of shapes and sizes. The mmjority of the windows on the facade,
north elevation, first story, are double hung units with glazed transoms
that have segmental brick arches. Many of the windows at the second story
are defined by semi-circular brick arch openings and have a fixed light with
flanking double hung units. The transom bar has three lights, the side tran-
som lights are fixed and the center unit has a projecting awning unit. Much
of the glazing in the west wing is leaded glass set in rectangular double
hung sash. A variety of stained glass patterns and colors are used in the
north and west elevations.

The variety and intricacy of the exterior of the Athenaeum is matched by

the surprising complexities of the interior. Floors of hardwood or mosaic
tile, wood paneled and plastered walls, stamped metal ceilings can still be
experienced in several spaces left uncovered by acoustical tile or other im-
provements. Some of the original woodwork has beenipainted or removed, as ha)
some of the framed openwork and ornamental latticework, many of the original
iron radiators and all of the gas light fixtures. The plumbing, of course,
is modern. The first and second floor of the east wing has been used by
Indiana University until the summer of 1970.

The main stairway of the west wing of the building is a symmetrically
divided flight at the vestibule or ground level, and is of wooden construc-
tion. At the first floor level a central flight of wooden stairs leads
to a landing where the stairway becomss ﬁ; etrically divided flight
of wooden construction. The St&l/ féégégﬁhave/p eled wainscots, square
newel posts, turned balusters and, The stringers are plain
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The second stairway on the north elevation is an enclosed two-flight wooden
unit. The outside entrance is at the landing, thus it is one flight down
to the basement and one flight up to the first floor. The stairway has a
purposefully designed wide grooved wallstring for bicycles to be wheeled
both up or down beside the person descending or ascending the stairs. A
third enclosed wooden single-flight stairway gives access from the north
side of the building up to the first floor corridor adjacent to the gymna-~
sium. There are two additional enclosed double flight wooden stairways in
the building.

The basement used to have a four-lane bowling alley and a kneipe or beer
saloon that was L-shaped with a storage area at the south end and a series
of toilets and alcoves along the north side of the building. The bowling al-|
leys have been removed and the space is now part of the large dining room
and lounge area obtained by enclosing with the glass the first floor arcade open
over the basement. The base of the U-shaped structure, at the Michigan Streel
or north facade, has a basement corridor running east-west, with a series of
small offices east of the alcove. The basement of the east wing has a short
east-west corridor which is a continuation of the corridor of the west wing,
with a small dining room and locker moom at the north, or base, of the U,
and a large dressing room and dining room in the east wing. The dining room
originaglly functioned as a second bowling alley.

The first floor in the west wing has a small auditorium on the south, a
double loaded central corridor, north-south axis, with a series of parlors
and toilets on either side. The corridor opens into a large foyer and shair
way. Central block or base of the U has a central double loaded corridor
with a series of dining rooms on both sides of the east—west corridor. East
wing has a large gynmasium south of the corridor and a series of small rooms
on the north.

The second floor of the west wing is a raised stage with dressing rooms along
the south wall. The Ballroom and concert hall, two stories in height with
a balcony and a loggia to the east, is located over the ground floor arcade,
now glazed to provide a third loggia to enclose a dining area. A large foyer
is at the north end of the hall. The central wing has a double- loaded east-
west corridor with a series of meeting rooms north and south of the corridor.
This used to be a large dining room.

There is a balcony opening into the gymnasium from the east wing, an east-

west corridor connecting to the central one, and a series of offices on the

north. The offices used to function as an assembly room and library.
ety

In the vestibule of the<§aln gptrance is a fine wooden ticket booth, polyfoill

in plan, seven sided,; h‘leadad staln? glass ticket windows. Numerous

additional elements qfx ardwood trim dre, of considerable interest.
In the garden a smalﬂfbutiﬁg}{ e bapd stand of wood and brick constructipn

is located at the sou&ﬁgast corne; the,garden area, and opens diagonally ozgo

the outdoor beer gardgnﬂbehihdgxq}ch rrs?s the three stage, glass-enclosed lo
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE -

The Athenaeum is an excellent example of Germanic a al influence
in the midwest during the latter part of the nineteenth century. It is
also a monument to the organization of Americans of German descent in the
United States who dedicated themselves to cultural and physical develop-
ment in their new home.
\In 1918 the ‘name of the Turnverein was changed from Das Deutsche Haus to
The Athenaeum, and the stone plaque above the large entrance doors on
the Michigan Street side were relettered. In 1851 the German community
in the city founded the Indianapolis Turngemeinde (Gymnastic Community)
and later took the name of Socialer Turnverein (Social Gymnastic Club).
The structure as it now stands represents two major architectural build-
ing phases, with a few recent and undated minor changes:~\k\

(1) The first, or German Romanesque phase, is represented by the east

. 125 feet of the present Michigan Street facade, and was built be-
0 fijeen May 1893 and Februdry 189k. With the influx of German immi-
grants in the 1880s and 1890s the decision was made to enlarge the
-building to accommodate not only the growing Turnvérein but to pro-o

vide space for use by other German groups.

A

(£))The second or Renaissance phase of the building is represented by
the west wing and the remainder of the building, all added between
the summers of 1897 and 1898. The new addition includes an open-
air beer garden just at the southeast corner of the site.

(3) At a later, unknown, date, the glass enclosures of the second and
third level loggias was extended down through their. supporting
columns on the stone wall at the ground level, behind which had
been a sunken bowling alley, adjacent to the indoor beer saloon
or student club. With the extension of the glass enclosed area
to this part of the building the bowling alley became an extension
of the dining and lounging facilities. The outdoor beer garden
was rearranged to allow a good sized dance floor in its center,
and flower boxes and light fixtures on low pedestals separated
the dance floor from the tables.

The Indianapolis firm of Vonnegut and Bohn was responsible for both phase%

of the structure, with the aid of 20 local contractors from Indianapolis.
‘ »




Stempfel, Theodor, ‘Funfzig Jahre unermudllchen Deutschen Strebens in

Indianapolis, Indlanapolls, 1898.
Fest Zeitung zur Feier Der Einweihung des Deutschen Hauses, Tiribune Publishing
Co., 22 Feb. 189k,
"Deutsche Haus Passes," Indianapolis Star, 23 Feb. 1918.
Indianapolis News, 23 Feb.. 1918. Photograph of the Athenaeum.
"Indianapolis Turnverein Seventy-Fifth Anniversary, 1851-1926,"
Nov. 12 & 13, 1926. Pamphlet.
"Athenaeum Turners," 1851-1951.

Pamphlet.
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